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UNTTED STATES OF AIVIERICA,

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

X

Plaintiff,

tils ApR 23 p q, 25

iJS DISIRICT

.RTMTNAL'" ilffitf 
^K)

DB GROUP SERVICES UK ],IMITED'

Defendant.

PIJEA AGREEMEMT

The united states of Ameríca, by and through t.he Fraud

Section of the Criminal livision ( "Fraud SecLion" ) and the A¡titrust

Division of the United States Department of .Tustice (together, the

,,DeparLment" ) , and. DB GROUP SERVTCES UK LIMITED ("def endanL" or

,'DBGS,,), by an¿ through its und.ersigned atLorneys, and through its

authorized representative, pursuant to authority granted by DBGS's

Board of Dírectors, hereby submit and enter int.o this plea agreement

(t.he ,,Agreement") , pursuant to RuIe 11(c) (1) (C) of the Federal- Rul-es

of Criminal procedure. The terms and condítions of this Agreement

are as follows r

The Defendant' s Agreement

t-. DBGS agrees to waive indictment and pJ-ead guilty Lo a

one-counL criminal Information fil-ed. in the District of ConnecticuL

x
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charging DBGS with wire fraud., in violation of Title 18, united

States Code, Section 1343. DBGS further agrees to persist' in t'hat

pJ-ea t.hrough senLencing and, as seL forth below, Lo cooperate fulIy

with the Department in its investigatíon into aff matters related to

the conduct charged in the Information'

2. DBGS understands and agrees that t.his Agreement is

between the Department and DBGS and does not bind any other division

or section of the Department of .lustice or any other federa]' sLate,

or local prosecuting, administrative, or regulatory authority'

Nevertheless, the Department wiII bring this Agreement and t'he

cooperation of DBGS, its direct or indirect affiliates,

subsidiaries, and parent corporation, to the attention of other

prosecuting authorities or olher agencies, if requested by DBGS'

3. DBGS agrees that this Agreement will be executed by

an auLhorized corporaLe representative ' DBGS represent's that a

resolution duly adopt.ed by DBGS',s Board of Directors is attached to

this Agreement as Exhibít 1 and represents t.hat the signatures on

this Agreement by DBGS and its counsef are authorízed by DBGS',S

Board of Directors, on behalf of DBGS'

4. DBGS agrees that it has the full- Iegal right' power'

and authority Lo enter into and perform alf of its obligations under

this Agreement.

2
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5.

t.his Agreement

the following:

DBGS agrees to abide by all- terms and obligations of

as described hereÍn, including, but not Iímit'ed to,

(1) to plead guilty as set forth in this Agreement;

(2) to abide by aIl sentencing stipulations

contained in this Agreement;

(3) to appear, t.hrough its duly appointed

representatives, as ordered for all- courL

appearances, and obey any other court order in

this matter;

(4) to commiL no further federal- crimes;

(5) to be t.rut.hful at al-l times with the Court;

(6) to pay the applicable fine and special

assessment; and

(7) to work with its parent corporation, Deutsche

Bank AG ("DeuLsche Bank") , in fulf illing t'he

obl-igaLions described in the undert.akings given

by Deutsche Bank in connection with resolving

investigations by the Department of ,fustice, the

U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission

( "CFTC" ) (attached to this Agreement as Exhibit

2) and the U.K. Financial Conduct Authority

/ \\Erñ^ I \
\ ! v¿J / r
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6. DBGS agrees that in the event DBGS sells, merges, or

transfers aII or substantialJ-y aII of its business operatíons as

they exist as of t.he date of t.his AgreemenL, whether such sale(s)

is/are structured as a stock or asset sale' mergerr or transfer,

DBGS shall include in any contract for sale, merger, or Lransfer a

any successor (s) inprovrsl-on

interesL

fu1Iy binding the purchaser (s) or

thereto to the obtigations described in this Agreement

1. DBGS agrees to continue to cooperate fully wit.h the

DepartmenL, the Federal Bureau of Investígation (the "FBI"), and any

other law enforcement or government agency designated by the

Department in a manner consistent with applicable law and

reguJ-aLions. At the request of the Department, DBGS shall al-so

cooperale fulty with foreign law enforcement authorit,ies and

agencies. DBGS shall, to the extent consistent with the foregoing,

truthfulfy discl-ose t.o t.he Department aIl fact.uaf information not

protecLed by a val-id claim of attorney-cIíent privilege or work

product doctrine protection with respect to t.he activities of DBGS

and ít.s af f íl-iates, its present and f ormer directors, of f icers,

employees, and agents, between the date of t.his Agreement and the

expiration of the Deferred Prosecutíon Agreement dated ApriI 23,

2OI5 between the Department and Deutsche Bank AG ( "Attachment A" to

the "DPA"), in United States v. Deutsche Bank AG, concerning all

matters relating to (a) the manípulation,

4
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interbank coordination of USD LIBOR, EURIBOR, Yen LIBOR, CHF LIBOR,

GBP LIBOR, and Euroyen TIBOR, or (b) violations of United States

laws concerning fraud or antitrust, or governing securities or

commodities markets, about which DBGS has any knowledge or about

which t.he Department, Lhe FBI, or any other law enforcement or

government agency designated by t.he Depart,menL, oT, at the request

of the Department, âûY f oreign l-aw enf orcement authorit.ies and

agencies, shall inquire. This obligation of truthful disclosure

includes the obtigation of DBGS Lo provide to the Depart.ment' upon

request, âDy non-privileged or non-protected document, record, or

other t.angible evidence about whích the aforementíoned aut.horities

and agencies shall inquire of DBGS, subject to the direction of the

DepartmenL.

B. DBGS agrees that any fine or restitution ímposed by

the Court wiII be due and payable withín ten (10) business days of

senLencing, and DBGS will not attempt to avoid or delay paynents.

DBGS furt.her agrees t.o pay the Cl-erk of the Court for t.he United

States District. Court for the District of Connecticut the mandat.ory

specia1 assessment of $4OO within Len (10) business days from the

date of sentencing.

9. DBGS will immediately file an application for a

prohibited t.ransaction exemption with the United States Department

of Labor ("DoL") requesting t.hat DBGS, its subsidiaries, and

5
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affiliates be al-l-owed to continue to be qualified as a Qualified

professional Asset Manager pursuant to Prohibited TransacLions

Exempt.ion 84-L4 (the "QPAM Exemption" ) . DBGS wiII seek such

exemption in the form and manner that. permits such exempt.ion to be

considered in the most expedítious manner possible, and wílI provide

all information requested of it. by DoL in a timely manner' The

decision regarding whether or noL to grant an exemptÍon, temporary

or ot.herwíse, is committed to DoL, and the Department takes no

position on wheLher or not an exemption should be granted. If DoL

denies the exemption, or takes any other action adverse to DBGS,

DBGS may not withdraw its plea or otherwise be released from any of

it.s obligat.ions under this PIea Agreement. The Department agrees

that. the Department witl support. a motion or request by DBGS that

sentencj-ng in this matter be adjourned until DoL has issued a ruling

on DBGS's request for an exemption, Lemporary or oLherwise, so long

as DBGS is proceeding wíth the DoL in an expeditious manner.

t_0. To the extent t.hat. this Agreement. triggers regulaLory

exclusions, disqual-if ications or penal-t.ies, the Fraud Sect.ion agrees

that, if requested, ít will advise the appropriate officials of any

governmental agency considering such actionr or any waiver or

exempLion therefrom, of the facL, manner, and extent of the

cooperation of Deutsche Bank, its affiliates and subsidiaries, and

t.he relevant facts regarding the charged conduct as a matter for

6
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that agency Lo consider before determining what. acLion, if âñY, to

take. The triggering of any such regulatory exclusions,

disqualifications or penal-ties by other governmental- agencies does

not entitle DeuLsche Bank to withdraw its plea or otherwíse be

released from any of its obligations under this Agreement.

11. DBGS agrees

corporaLion, or any of its

subsidíaries issues a Press

that if Lhe defendanL company, its parent

direct or indirect affiliates or

release or hol-ds a press conference in

connecLion with this Agreement, DBGS shall first consul-t with the

Department to determine whether (a) the text' of the release or

proposed statemenLs at any press conference are Lrue and accuraLe

wit.h respect to matters between the

Department. has no objection to the

at any press conference concerning

with such a press refease.

Department and DBGS; and (b) the

release or statement. SLatements

this matter shall be consistent

t.he conduct described in the

as Exhibit 3, (b) anY of the

The rtment's Agreement

L2. In exchange for the guilty plea of DBGS and the

complete fulfillment of alI of its obligations under this Agreement,

t.he Department agrees it wiIl not file additional criminal charges

against. DBGS

SLatement. of

relating to (a) anY of

FacLs attached hereto

conduct described in the Statement. of Facts atLached as ALtachment A

to the DpA, or (c) information disclosed by DBGS or Deutsche Bank to

7
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the Department prior t.o the date of this Agreement relating to the

manipulat.Íon, attempted manipulation, or interbank coordination of

usD LIBOR, EURIBOR, Yen LIBOR, CHF LIBOR, GBP LIBOR, and Euroyen

TIBOR. This paragraph does not províde any protect.ion againsL

prosecution for manipulation of interest rates, ânY scheme t.o

defraud. counterparties to interest rate derivatives trades placed on

its behalf, or any antitrust violation in the future by DBGS or by

any of it.s officers, direcLors, employees, or agents, whether or noL

discl-osed by DBGS pursuant t.o the Lerms of this Agreement. This

Agreement. does not close or preclude the investigation or

prosecution of any natural persons, including any officers,

d.irectors, employees, or agents of DBGS, who may have been invol-ved

in any of the matters seL forth in the Information, Attachment A of

the DPA, or in anY other matters.

Factual Basis

13. DBGS is pteading guilLy because it. is guiJ-t.y of lhe

charge contained in the Information. DBGS admits, agrees, and

stipulates that. the factual allegations set forth in the Information

are true and correct, that it is responsible for the acts of its

present and former officers and employees described in the Statement

of Facts attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit 3, and

that Exhibit 3 accuratety reflects DBGS's criminal conduct. DBGS

also admits, agrees, and stipulates that. Attachment A to Lhe DPA, to

ð
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the extent that ALLachmenl A describes the conduct of employees of

DBGS, is true and correct, and that DBGS is responsible for such

conducL.

DBGS's Waiver of Riqhls,

Including the Riqht to Appeal

¡4. Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure f-1(f ) and

Federal Rul-e of Evidence 410 limit the admissibility of sLaLemenLs

made in the course of plea proceedings or plea discussions in bot.h

civil and crimínal proceedings, if t.he guilt.y pl-ea is later

withdrawn. DBGS expressly warrants that. it has discussed these

rules with its counsel- and understands them. Solely to the extenL

set forth below, DBGS vol-untarily waives and gives up the right.s

enumerated in Federal- RuIe of Criminal Procedure 11 (f) and Federal-

RuIe of Evidence 4l_0. specifically, DBGS undersLands and agrees

guilt.y pleathat. any st.atements that. ít makes in the course of it.s

or in connection with t.he Agreement are admissible against it' for

any purpose in any U.S. federal crimina] proceeding íf, even though

t.he DeparLmenl has fulf illed all of its obligat.ions under this

Agreement and the Court has imposed the agreed-upon senLence, DBGS

neverthel-ess withdraws its guilty plea.

15. DBGS knowingly, intelligentJ-y, and voLuntarily waives

it.s right.

knowingly,

to appeal the conviction in this case. DBGS similarly

and volunt.arily waives

9
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the sentence imposed by the Court. In addition, DBGS knowingly,

int.etligentJ-y, and voluntarily waives the right to bring any

col-lateral challenge, including chall-enges pursuanL to TitIe 28,

United States Code, SecLion 2255, chalì-enging either the conviction,

or the sentence imposed in this case. Nothing in this paragraph,

however, wiII act as a bar to Deutsche Bank perfecting any legal

remedies it may otherwise have on

respecting cl-aims of ineffective

prosecutorial misconduct. DBGS

statute of Iimitations and venue

coll-ateral attack

of counsel or

appeal or

as s í stance

waives all defenses based on the

with respect to any prosecution

that is not time-barred on the date that t,his Agreement is signed in

t.he event that: (a) the convicLion is later vacated for any reason;

(b) DBGS viol-ates this Agreement; or (c) the plea is later

withdrawn, provided such prosecution is brought v'/it.hin one year of

any such vacation of conviction, violation of agreement., or

wit.hdrawal of plea plus the remaining time period of t.he statute of

limítations as of the date t.hat thís Agreement is signed. The

Department is free to t.ake any posiLion on appeal or any other post-

judgment mat'ter.

Penalty

16. The sLatutory maximum sentence thaL Lhe Court can

impose for a violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section

1343, íf the violation affects a financial institut.ion, is a fíne of

10
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$1 mill-ion or

resulting from

twice the gross pecuniary gain or gross pecuniary loss

the offense, whichever is greatest, Títle 18, United

states cod.e, secLion 3571 (c) (3 ) , (d) ; f ive years' probation, Title

18, United States Code, Section 3561(c) (1); and a mandatory special

assessmenL of $400, Tit.le 18, united St.ates code, section

3 013 (a) (2 ) (B) .

Sentencing Recommendation

11 . PursuanL to Fed. R' Crim. P. l-1 (c) (1-) (C) , the

Department and DBGS have agreed to a specific sentence of a fine in

the amount of $15o,ooo,oo0 and a special assessment of $400. The

parties agree that this $150,000,000 fine and the $400 special

assessment shall be paid to t.he clerk of Court, united states

District Court for the District of Connecticut, wit'hín ten (10)

business days after sentencing. The Department and DBGS have agreed

that all or a portion of the fine may be paid by one or more related

Deutsche Bank entities, including DBGS's parent, company, Deutsche

Bank AG, on behal-f of DBGS, consistent with Deutsche Bank policy and

practice. DBGS acknowledges that no tax deduction may be sought in

connection with the payment of this $150,000,000 fine'

1g. The parties further agree, wit.h the permission of t.he

Court, to waive the requirement of a Pre-Senlence Investigation

report pursuanl to Federal Rule of crimínal- Procedure

32(c) (1) (A) (ii), based on a finding by the court that the record

1_1

Case 3:15-cr-00062-RNC   Document 4   Filed 04/23/15   Page 11 of 46



contains information sufficient to enable the Court to meaningfulJ-y

exercise iLs sentencing povver. The parties agree, however, that in

the event the court orders t.he preparation of a pre-sentence report

prior to senLencing, such order wiIl not affecL the agreement set

forth herein.

19. In the event the court. direcLs the preparaLion of

a pre-sentence Investigation report, the Department wilI fulIy

inform the preparer of the pre-senLence report and the Court of the

facts and l-aw relaLed to DBGS's case. Except as set forth in this

Agreement, the parties reserve al-Ì other rights to make sentencing

recommendations to address questions posed by the court or the

Probalíon Office and t.o respond to motions and arguments by the

opposing partY.

20. This agreement is presented to Lhe Court pursuant to

Fed. R. Crim. P. 11(c) (1) (C). DBGS understands that', if the Court

rejects this Agreement, the Court must, (a) inform the part'ies that

the court rejects the Agreement; (b) advise DBGS's counsel t'hat the

court ís not required to follow the Agreement and afford DBGS the

opportunity to withdraw its plea; and (c) advise DBGS that if the

plea is not withdrawn, the Court may dispose of the case less

favorably toward DBGS than t.he AgreemenL contemplated. DBGS further

understands that if the court refuses to accept any provision of

T2
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this Agreement, excepL paragraph 18 above, neither party shall be

bound by the provisions of the AgreemenL.

Breach of reement

2I. DBGS agrees that. if it breaches this Agreement.,

commits any federal crime beLween the dat.e of this Agreement and the

expiration of the DPA, or has provided or provides deliberately

fal-se, incomplete, or misleading information in connection with this

Agreement, the DeparLment may, in íts sole discretion, characterize

such conduct as a breach of this Agreement. In the evenL of such a

breach, (a) the Department wíl-l be f ree f rom its obligations under

believes appropríatethe AgreemenL and may take whatever position it

as to the sentence; (b) DBGS wiII not have the right. t.o withdraw the

guilty pJ-ea; (c) DBGS shall be fully subject to criminal prosecuLion

for any other crimes that it has committed or might commit, if âûy,

including perjury and obstruction of justice; and (d) the Department

will be free Lo use againsL DBGS, directly and indirectly, in any

criminal or civiJ- proceeding any of t.he informaLion or materials

provided by DBGS pursuanL to t.his Agreement, as well as the admitted

Statement of Facts at.Lached as Exhibit 3.

22 . fn t.he event of a breach of this Agreement by DBGS,

charges, or any civil or

a resul-t of t.his

if t.he Department efects to pursue criminal

administrative action that was nol filed as

Agreement, then:

13

Case 3:15-cr-00062-RNC   Document 4   Filed 04/23/15   Page 13 of 46



a. DBGS agrees that any applicable statute of

Iimitations is tolled between the date of DBGS's

signing of this Agreement and the discovery by

the Department of any breach by DBGS plus one

year; and

b. DBGS gives up all defenses based on the statute

of l-imitatíons (as described in Paragraph 14),

any claim of pre-indictment deJ-ay, venuef or any

speedy trial claim with respect to any such

prosecution or action, except to the extent that

such defenses existed as of the date of the

signing of this Agreement.

Co¡npIete Aqree¡nent

23. This document states the full extent of the agreement

between the parties

expresÐ or impJ-ied,

There are no other

Any modification of

promises or agreemen'ts,

this Agreement. shaÌI be

supplemental or revised pleaval-id onJ-y if set forth in writing in a

agreement signed by atI parties.

AGREED:

FOR DB GROUP SERVTCES TJK LIMITED:

Date: 'jþlÊ By:

L4
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Date: By:

Steven F. Reich
General Counsel- - Americas
Deutsche Bank AG

Roberto Finzi, Esq.
Andrew Finch, Esq.
Theodore V. WeJ-1s, Jr
Paul, Weiss, Rifkind,
Garrison LLP

, EsQ.
Wharton &

15
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Date: @lE By:

Steven F. Reich
General- Counsel - Amerícas
Deutsche Bank AG

AÉ
RoberLo FinzÍ, Esg.
Andrew Finch, Esq.
Theodore V. Wellsr ,fr
Paul, Weiss, Rifkind,
Garrison LLP

' Ese.
Wharton &

15
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EOR ÍHE DEPARÍÎ\ÍENT OF ,'TJSTICE, CRIMINAL DMSION, FRjAttD SECTION:

ANDREW VüEISSMANN
Chief, Fraud Section
Benjamin D. Singer
Deputy Chief, Fraud Section
Criminal Division
United States Department of Justice

Date: By:
lison L. Anderson

Trial Attorney, Fraud Section

FOR THE DEPARIII{ENT OF JUSTICE, AÌi¡EITRUST DTVTSION:

Date:

Date:

By:

By:

nif L. au no
SAS t Chief, Fraud Section

JEFFREY D. MARÎINO
Chief, New York Fiel-d Office
Antitrust Division
United States Department of Justice

Richard A. Powers
Triat Attorney, Antitrust Dívision

')
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CERTIFICATE OF COUNSEL

We are counsel for DB Group Services (ux¡ Ltd.

( "DBGS" ) in the matler covered by t.his Agreement, In

connection with such representation, we have examined

relevant DBGS documents and have discussed the terms of

this Agreement. with DBGS's Board of DírecLors. Based on

our review of the foregoing materials and discussions, we

are of Lhe opínion t.hat the representative of DBGS has

been duly authorized to enter into this Agreement on

behalf of DBGS and t.hat this Agreement has been duly and

validly authorized, execuLed, and del-ivered on behalf of

DBGS and is a val-id and binding obligation of DBGS.

Further, we have carefully reviewed the terms of this

Agreement with the Board of Directors and the lega1

counsel- of DBGS. We have fully advised them of t.he rights

of DBGS, of possible defenses, of the Sentencing

Guidelines' provisions, and of the conseguences of

entering into this Agreement. To our knowledge, the

decísion of DBGS to enLer into this Agreement, based on

the authorizatíon of the Board of DirecLors, is an

informed and vol-untary one.
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DaLe: Apri 3 20]-5LZ

By:

By

Byt

Roberto Finzi, Esq.
Pauf, Weiss, Rifkínd, Wharton & Garrison LLP
Counsel for DBGS

Andrew C. Finch, Esq.
Paul, Weiss, Rifkind, Wharton & Garrison LLP
Counsel for DBGS

rÅ?--

fl.-,t*t/. u*/t*
Theodore V. !üeIIs , ,Jr . , Esg.
PauI, Weiss, Ríf kind, Wharton & Garríson T-,LP

Counsel for DBGS
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COMPA}IY OFFICERÍ S CERTIFICATE

I have read this Agreement and carefully reviewed every

part of it with outside counsel lor DB GROUP SERVICES UK LIMITED

("DBGS,,). I understand the terms of this Agreement and

voluntarily agree, on behalf of DBGS, to each of its terms.

Before signing this Agreement, I consul-ted outsÍde counsel for

DBGS. Counsel fully advised me of the rights of DBGS' of

possible defenses, of the Sentencing Guidelines' provisions, and

of the consequences of

understand that

entering into this Agreement.

I outside counsel- for DBGS has advised the

rights of DBGS, of PossibleBoard of Directors fuIIY of the

defenses, of the

consequences of

No promises

contained in this

or forced me, or

Agreement on behalf of

Agreement. I am also

representation in this

Counsel - Americas for

Sentencing Guidelines' provisíons, and of the

entering into the Agreement.

or incJucements have been made other than those

Agreement. Furthermore, no one has threatened

to my knowledge any person authorizLnq this

DBGS, in any \^tay to enter into this

satisfíed with outside counsel-'s

matter. I certifY that I am General

Deutsche Bank AG and am dul-y authorized

by DBGS to execute thís Agreement on behal-f of DBGS'

Date: ApriÌ 20L5
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i

I

I

DB Gr Serv UK Limited

By

Steven F. Reich
General Counsel - Americas
Deutsche Bank AG
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EXHIBIT 1-

CertÍficate of Corporate Resolulions

A copy of the executed Certíficate of Corporate Resolutions

is annexed hereto as "Exhibit L."
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COPY OF THE RESOLUTIONS OF TIIE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

OF

DIì GROUP SERVICES (UK) LIMITED

Background

On22 April 2015, the board of directors (tlre Board) of DB Group Services (tJK) Limited (the Company)
consiclered:

(a) the discussions between tlre Company, through its lcgal counsel. ancl the Uniled Statcs

Department of Justice, Crirninal l)ivisiou, Fraud Section, and the Arlitrust Division
(together, fhc DOJ) regarding its investigation into potentiâl criminal violations related to

the l.ondo¡r lnterbank Off'ercd Rate (LIBOR) arrd tlte Euro l¡rterbank Offered Rate

(EURIBOR) (the LIBOR luvestigation);

(b) a pack of scttlenrent docunrents, pursuant to which the Cornpany and Deutsche Bank AG

(DBAG) proposed to settle the LIROR Investigatiort, including:

(i) a drafl Plea Agreenrcnt, with appendices, betwccrl the Cornparry arrd the DOJ (the

Drnft Plea Agreernent);

(ií) as an appendix to the Draft Plea Agrccrment, a draft statentent of facts rclating to the

involvement of the Conrpany's employees in tniscondrtct in relation to thc I-IBOR

ancl TiUR IIIOR lrcncltmarks; artd

(iii) a draft Infornration expccted to bs filed in the LI,S. Distlict Ci¡urt forthe District of
Connecticut, charging the Company rvith orre count of wire fl'aud, in violation of
Title 18, United States Cocìe, Section 1343.

(c) a draft written special re.solution to be passed by the Company's sole shareholder (the

Written Shareholder Resolution) containing a direction in reiation to the nratters rcfcrred

to in sub-paragraphs (a) and (b) above;

(d) the tenns of a proposed resolution of the board of DBAG (the DBAG Rcsolution) to thc

effect that DBAG [:e authorised to sign and execute any documents and take all otlter stcps

tìlat are ¡lecessary or deemed useful to ensure and lacilitate, to the extent legally possible, the

entering of a guilty plea in the U.S. vis-à-vis the DOJ by the Conrpanyt and

(e) the advíce to the Board from its legal counsel regarding the ternl-s of the Drafl Plea

Agreernent, as well as adr,ice regarding the u,ait,er of rights and othel consequences oi'

signing the Drall Plea A¡¡reenrent.

Ilesolutions

After careful consideration the llozu'd RISOLVED, conditionally upon receipt by the Board of (i) a oopy ol
fhe DBAG Resolution duly passed and (ii) a cop)/ of'thc signed Writtert Shareholder Resolution, THAT:

L lt rva.s in the best commercial interests of the Cornpany aud would prontote the success of the

Cornpany for the benefit of its mernbers as a whole, having regard to the fhctors sct out in section
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2

l'72 of the Companies Act 2006 ancl otlrer faclors, for tlte Cornpany to erlter into the Drafi Plea

Agrecmcnt ancl to enter into the guilty plea referred to therein (thc Guilty Plea),

Arry dircctor of the Company (a Director), Christian Serving, Richard Walker, Sitnon Dodds,

Chiistof von Dryander, Kieran Garvey, Maurccn Lcwis and Gayathri Kamalallathan and Roberto

F-inzi, Andrew C, Finch and Theodore V. Wells, Jr. of the LJ.S. law firnr Paul, Weiss, Rifkind'

Wharton & Carriso¡ LI-P, acting individually or jointly, be authorised on behall'of the Company to:

(a) agïec àny alnenrJ¡nent to the Draft Plea Agreernent prior to execution provided that the plea

agrecmcnt to be entered into by the Company be substantially in the same fonr and

substance as the Draft Plea Agreement;

(b) agrce the tenns of, and sign on behalf of the Cornpan), anY related document; and

(c) take any and all actions as may be necessary or appropriate, and to approve the forms, tenns

and provisions of any agreement or other cloouments as may bc necessary or appropriate, to

carry out or give effect io the purpose and intent of thcsc Resolutions (including signing arrd

de livering any such agreernent or document on behalf of the cornpany),

'I'he execution of any relevant docunlent as a deed in relation to tlìese Rescllutions be authorised altd

that th is be e ffected by tfiat docurnent being signed by any Director in the prcscttce of a t'itness or by

any two Directors ur ty uny <lne l)ircctor and either of the joinl cornpany secretarics of the

Conrpany, irl each case on behalf'of the Company'

Christian Sewing, Richard Walker, Simorr Dodcls, Christof von Dryander. Kieran Garvey, Maureen

Lewis and Gayaihri Kamalanathan and Roberto Finzi, Andrerv C. Finch and'l'heodore V. Wells, Jr'

of the U.S. law firm Pagl, Weiss, Rifkind, Wharton & Carrison ['l-P, or any delegate rvho he/shc

may seleot, acting itrdividually or joirrtly, bc authorised:

(a) to cxecute the l)rafi Plea Agreernent on behalf of thc Company u'itlt any such amendnretrts

as may have bcen upprou"ã in accordance with these Resolutions provided that the plca

agreement executed on bchalf of the Company be substantially in the same form and

substance as the Drai't Plca Agrcernent;

(b) to act and speak on behalf of the Cornpany in any proceeding, or as otherwise necessary, lor

the purpose of executing the Draft Plea Agreeurent (with any amendments âs refened to

above), including the enlry of tlre Guilty Plea on behalf of the Company; and

(c) to take suc¡ t'urther action as appears to hi¡n/her necessary or desirable to carry into effect

the irttent and purpose ol'these Resolutions'

Altof t¡e actiorrs of the Directors and any individuals authorised to act on behalf of the Company by

the above Resolutions, rvhich actions woulcl have been rvithin the scope of and authorised by the

above Resolutions except tllat such actions were talien prior to the passing of such Resolutions. be

sevcrally ratified, oontìnned, a¡rproved aucl adopted as aotions on behalf of the Contpany;

Any l)ireutor and Joanne Bagshaw and Anclrew Bartlef, b<lth joint company secretaries of the

Cc,*puny, who was in attendance at the Board rneeting at which these Resoltttions rvere passed, be

individually authorised to c.ertify a gopy of these Resolutions'

Christian Sewing, Richard Walker, Simon Dodds, Christr:f von Dtyander, Kieran Garvcy, Mattreen

l,ewis and Cayaitrri Kamalanathan and Roberto Finzi, Andrew C, Finch and Theodore V. Wells, Jr,

_)

4
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of the U.S. law firm Paul, Weiss, Rifliind, Wharton & Garrison LLP be individually authorised to

provide to the DOJ a cefified copy of these Resolutions.

Hach joint company sccretary of the Cornpany be individually authorised to file with the Registrar of
Companies a rccord of thc Written Shareholder Resolution and the relevant fonls.

l, Joanne Bagshaw, being the joint company secretary of the Cotttpany, certiô/ that the resolutions set out

above are the resolutions that were passecl by the f)irectors of the Cornpany at a board meeting duly held on

22 April 2015.

tß
Joint Secreiary

I
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EXHIBIT 2

Corporate Compl iance Undertakinqs

Attached are the relevant excerpts of the agreements

entered ínto by DBGS Limited's parent, Deutsche Bank AG

( "Deutsche Bank" ) , in resolving regulatory investigations in

this matter with the United States Commodity futures Trading

Commí ssion.

Case 3:15-cr-00062-RNC   Document 4   Filed 04/23/15   Page 26 of 46



IJNITED STATES OF AMERICA
Before the

COMMODITY F'UTURES TRADING COMMISSION

In the Matter of:

Deutsche Bank AG,

Respondent,

CFTC DocketNo, 15 - 2o

ORDER INSTITUTING PROCEEDINGS PURSUANT TO
SECTIONS 6(c) AND 6(d) oF THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT' MAKING

F'INDINGS, AND IMPOSING REMEDIAL SANCTIONS

I,

The Commodity Futures Trading Comrnission ("Commission" or "CFTC") has reason to

believe that Deutsche Bank AG ("Deutsche Banl<" ot "Respondent") has violated Sections 6(c),

6(d) and 9(aX2) of the Commodity Exchange Act (the "Act" ot the "CEA"), 7 U,S,C, $$ 9, 13b

and 13(a)(2) (2006). Thelefole, the Commission deems it appropliate and in the public interest

that public administlative proceedings be, and hereby are, instituted to determine whether

Respondent has engaged in the violations set forth helein, and to determine whether any ordel

shaìl be issued imposing lemedial sanctions,

II.

In anticipation of the institution of an adminístlative proceeding, Respondent has

submitted an Offer of Settlernent ("Offer"'), which the Commission has determined to accept.

Without admitling ol denying the flrndings or conclusions helein, except to the extent Responclent

admits those findings in any lelated action against Deutsche Banlc by, or any agreement with, the

Department of Justice oT any other govelnmental agency ot office, Respondent het'ein consents

to the ently and acknowledges selvice of this Order Instituting Proceedings Put'suant to Sections

6(c) and 6(d) of the Commodity Exchange Act, Making Findings, and Imposing Remedial
Sanctions ("Older"'), I

I Respondent consents to the entry of this Older and to the use of these findings in this proceeding and

in any otliel proceeding blouglrt by the Cornmission or to which the Cornmission is a party; provided,

however, that Respondent does not consent to the use of the Offel; or the findings ot' conclusions in this
Order, as the sole basis fol any other prooeeding blought by the Commission, othet'than in a ploceeding

in bankruptcy or to enforce the terms of this Older, Nol does Respondent consent to the use of the Offel
ol this Older, or the finclings or conclusions in this Ordel conseuted to in the Offer', by any other parly in
any other proceeding,

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

RECETVED CFTC

Office of Proceedings
Proceedings Clerk

7:23 am, Apr 23, 2015
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uI.

The Commission finds the following

A, SummarY

For mole than six years, flom at least 2005 thlough early 2011 (the "relevant period"),

Deutsche Bank, by and through the acts of certain employees, engaged in systemic and pervasive

misconduct directed at rnaniprilating clitical, intelnational financial benchmallc t'ates, the London

Inter.bank Offered Rate ("LIBOR") and the Euro Intelbank Offered Rate ("Euribor"). Deutsche

Bank's pr.ofrt-dr.iven misconduct undermined the integlity of LIBOR and Euribol and the

integrity of the U.S. and global financial mat'kets'

LIBOR and Eur.ibor are the basis fol tlillions of dollals of financial instruments,

particularly derivatives contracts, including interest rate swaps and futut'es contlacts. The

bur.odollarifutur.es contract tladed on the Chicago Melcantile Exchange ("CMB") is one of the

Iar.gest futures contract in the world based on open interest and notional value of tlading volume

anã seftles against U.S, DollaL LIBOR, Rates fol consumer loans, such as mortgages, student

loans, cal loáns, and cledit card accounts, are tied to LIBOR. Malkets, investors and consumers

ar.ound the wor.ld r.ely on the integrity of these benchmark rates,

Tlie benchmark lates are determined by contributions fi'om select panel banlcs, including

Deutsche Bank, and ale supposed to leflect each bank's honest assessment of the costs of

borrowing unsecured fundi in the cash markets, More than two dozen Deutsche Bank traders and

benchmark submitters violated this fundamental plecept by focusing on the need to generate

trading pr.ofrts instead of pr.oviding honest and accumte information to the lelevant cash marltets,

As a result, Deutsche Bank ¡outinely based its U,S, Dollar, Yen, Sterling, and Swiss Fl'anc

LIBOR and Eur.ibor submissions on its cash and derivatives tlading positions, the profitability of

whioh wer.e tied to LIBOR and Euribor'. Thlough its regulat', false LiBOR and Euribor

submissions, Deutsche Bank routinely attempted to manipulate LiBOR and Euribol'in order to

ensure that the published rates fol each benchmark benefited its trading positions, At times,

Deutsche Bank was successful in its attempts to manipulate LIBOR for U'S' Dollal, Yen,

Sterling, and Swiss Ft'anc, and Euribor,

Over.this more than six year peliod and acloss curtencies, Deutsche Bank's submittels

routinely took into account other Deutsche Banlc traders' delivatives trading positions, as well as

their. own cash and derivatives trading positions, when making the bank's LIBOR and Eulibor

submissions, On other occasions, Deutsche Bank aìded and abetted other panel banks' attempts

to manipulate Euribor.and Yen LIBOR, The conduct of Deutsche Banlc's submitters, tradels,

desk managefs, and at least one senior managel was systemic and pervasive, occurling acloss

2
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multiple tLading deshs and offices, including London, Flanl<furt, New York, Tokyo,2 and

Singapole,'

Allowing submitters and traders to pliolitize plofit motives over apprcpriate submission

consider.ations, Deutsche Banlc petmitted a cultule of tradel self-interest to exist and cleated

conflicts of inter.est, which allowed the misconduct to occur, Certain managem encouraged

continnal information sharing between derivatives tladels, money malket traders, and submittels

for,the vzuious benchmarks, ãurn lestructul'ing business lines such that, in f)eutsche Banl<'s

London office, derivatives tladers and subrnittet's sat togethel, In addition to making loutine

wr.itten 1."qrr.ri, for beneficial LIBOR and Eutibor submissions, the tradels open shouted their

r.equests for beneficial submissions across the tlading floor to túe submittrrs,a A senior managet's

r.egulariy sat with the tr.adels and encouraged them and their countetparts in other offices to

commuiricate and exchange trading positions, so submitters became clearly aware of the

subrnissions that were most favorable to the various desks' trading positions, Seniol desk

manager.s in London, Frankfult, New Yolk, and in the Deutsche Tokyo Subsicliary aiso made

.'"qu.i, to benef,it their own trading positions, facilitated the requests fi'om their tladers fot'

beneficial subrnissions, and gen"Laúy plomoted the practice of inappropriately using benchmalk

inter.est rate submissions to help the tladers inclease plofits and minimize losses on theil and the

clesk's trading positions. The cash and derivatives llading on the deslcs lesponsible for Deutsche

Bank's misconduct incleased thr.or,rghout the lelevant peliod and the desks genelated significant

r.evenues for Deutsche Bank, particulaLly duling the global financial clisis of 2007 thlough 2009,

Despite the obvious conflict of interest, Deutsche Bank, at times, allowed its traders who

primar.ity tra¿e¿ delivatives, such as its Y del, to be responsible for making its

submisslons, thus making it easy to skew ssions to benefit their own positions

and to accommodate theîequesis of theiL fello s traders,6 These implopel submission

t The Deutsche Bank Tokyo office I'eferenced herein is Deutsche Securities, Inc, Japan ("Deutsclte

Tokyo Sr.rbsidiary,,), The Deutsche Tokyo Subsicliary is the brokelage and investment banking alm

loc*ed i¡ Tol<yo, Japan for Deutsche Bank AG, It is not registered with the Commission in any capacity,

3 Deutsche Banh's misconduct extended beyond the LIBOR and Buribor benchnrat'l<s, Thfough its

internal investigation, Deutsche Bank identifiecl eviclence of similal misconduct with respect to attempts

to influence, anã at tilnes attempts to manipulate, other interest rate beuchmarks, iricluding, but not

lirnited to, S'ingapore lnter.banlc Offered Ráte, Singapore Swap OffeL Rate, and TomA'lext Indexed Swaps

fol the Swiss Franc,

'l For pLìrposes of this Order, the tenn "request" lreaus a request for a preferential LIBOR ot'Ettribol'

submissiori for a pafticulat' tenot',

t The telm ,,senio¡ management" ol'"ssuior lnallager" refers to Deutsche Banl< employees with

resporrsibilities (formally or infor,rnally delegated) bloador than the

altúouglr their r.esponslUilities rnay trave at times included managin ior'

nranagãment" ol'åsenioL ,.t'tu,-,ug.,:" does not incltlcle executive lnan Bank's

Ma¡ ageni ent B oarcl, Su perui sory B oat'd, ot' G¡ou p Executive Comrr ittee,

u ln June 2008, the British BankeLs' Association ("BBA") clarified in guidarice provided to panel banl<s

that the basis for a bank's submissio¡ must be the rates at which barik staff rnembel's p|imarily

r.esponsible for management of the banlç's cash, lathel than the bank's derivative t|ading boolc, cousider'

J
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ptactices continued even after the BBA, the tlade association lesponsible fol the management

ãnd publication of LiBOR, clalifred in June 2008 that submissions should be made by those who

at'e l€sponsible for. management of the banl<'s cash, t'ather than the bank's delivatives tlading

book, One parliculal Deutsche Bank del'ivatives tlader-submitter used his position as the banlt's

submitter to assist the seniol yen ttadel at UBS ('UBS Seniol Yel Tradel") in his massive

scheme to rnanipulate Yen LigOn over the same televant peliod,T

As a l.esult of this plofit-based submission process, irnploper wlitten and olal submission

requests were common plactice, and LIBOR and Euribol submittels routinely skewed Deutsche

Bankls contributions, routinely made false submissions, and routinely atternpted to manipulate,

and, at times, successfully manipulatecl LIBOR and Eutibor. Thus, Deutsche Banl<'s LIBOR and

Euribor.submissions weïe not a reflection of Deutsche Banlc's honest assessment of the costs of
bopowing funds in the relevant interbank mat'kets, as reqnired by each of the benchmat'lcs'

definitions,

Deutsche Bank's traders were able to accommodate and facilitate the attempts to

ma¡ipulate LIBOR and Euribor fol yeals because Deutsche Bank lacked internal controls,

pro""dut"r and policies concelning its LIBOR and Eulibor submission plocesses, and failed to

ãdequately supervise its tlacling deslcs and tladers, Deutsche Bank did not have any policies,

inteinal contr.òls, or plocedures for determining ol monitoring its submissions to ensure that

Deutsche Baldr's LIBOR and Euribor submissions leflected an honest assessment of the costs of
bopowing unsecuted ñ¡nds in the interbank mallcets, Deutsche Bank's failule to provide inteLnal

tr.aining oì.implernent standards addressing benchmalk interest rate submissions, allowance of
inappropr.iate communioations amongst tradels and submitters, and l'elated conflicts of interest

a--pÎin.A the potential fol misconduct and pelmitted the misconduct to continue fot' a numbel of
yraì.r, Deutsche Bank engaged in this wrongful conduct even aftel the Division of Enforcement

iequested in ApLil 2010 that Deutsche Bank conduct an internal investigation of its U,S, Dollar'

LiÈOR submission pr.actices, In fact, Deutsche Bank did not make rneaningful improvements in

its i¡ternal controls until mid-201 1 and did not folmalize a policy about conflicts of interest

among traders and subrnittels relating to benchmark submissions until February, 2013.

t({<X***tfi

that the banh can bonow unsecured intel'banl< funds in the London lnarltet, The BBA also clalifred that

panel banks could not contribute a rate based on the pricing of any derivative financial instrument'

t On December 19,2012,the Commission issued an Ol'der Instituting Proceedings Pnrsuant to Sections

6(c) and 6(d) of the Cornmoclity Exchange Act Making Findings ancl hnposing Rernedial Sanctions

against UBS AG and UBS, finding, among othel things, that UBS AG and IIBS, thlough the UBS Senior

Yen Trader., attempted to rnanipulate Yen LIBOR, at times successfully, thlough multiple methods. The

Commission's Or.der found that one of the UBS Seniot Yen Trader's strategies included ooordinating

with tl,aciers at othel' Yen parrel banlcs, including Deutsche Bank, identified in the Order as the Yen Bank

F, to attempt to mariipulate Yen LIBOR by rnaking false Yen LIBOR subtnissions beneficialto their

respective derivativei trading positions, See ht re UBS AG el al,, CFTC DocketNo, 13-09 (CFTC filecl

December' 19,2012), cn,ailable at

4

912.pdf ,
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In accepting Deutsche Bank's Offer', the Commission recognizes Respondent's

cooperation wlth th. Division of Enfolcement's investigation of this matter, The Commìssion

notðs that at the outset of the Division of Enforcement's investigation in April 2010 and

continuing until mid-20 I 1 , Deutsche Bank's coopelation was not sufficient, and, in par1, this

affectecl atirnely lesolution of this mattet', Aftel mid-2011, Deutsche Bank provided significant

coopet'ation and assistance to the Division of Enforcement,

B. Respondent

Deutsche Bank AG is a Gennan global banking and financial selices company

headqualteled in Frankfuit, Germany, Deutsche Banlc operates in ovet'70 countlies and has

offrces in major financial centels including Flankfurt, London, New York City, Tokyo,

Singapore, and Hong i(ong, On Decembet 31,2012, Deutsche Banl< AG was plovisionally

registeled as a swap dealel with the Commission,

C. X'acts

1. The Fixing of LIBOR and Euribor

o, LIBOR ttttd its Fìxìng

LIBOR is the most widely used benchmark interest mte in the wolld ancl affects malket

participants and consumers ttu'oughout the wolld, including in the United States, LIBOR is used

as a barometel to measure strain in money markets and is often a gauge of the market's

expectation of future central bank intelest rates, LIBOR is used in interest rate ü'ansactions,

inóludi¡g loans, over.-the-counter swaps, and exchange-tladed intelest rate futures and options

contr.actJon many of the wolld's majol futures and options exchanges. For example, U.S, Dollar

LIBOR is used as the basis lol settlement of the CME's Eulodollar'futut'es contlacts, The

products indexed to LIBOR have an approximate notional value of $500 trillion'

Duri¡g the relevant peliod, under the auspices of tlie BBA,8 LIBORs wet'e issued on a

daily basis foi ten cumencies, including U,S, Dollar', Yen, Ster'ling, and Swiss Franc, with fifteen

tenor.s (¡, e,, dur.ations for intelest rates) r'anging fi'om overnight through twelve months.e Celtain

.urt"n"i"r, such as U.S. Dollar, Yen, Sterling, and Swiss Franc are more widely refelenced in

inter.est rate contracts. One, thlee and six-months at'e the most common tenols t'efet'enced in

LIB OR-indexed tt'ansacti ons.

According to the BBA, LIBOR "is based on offeled inter-banl< deposit rates contributed

in accoldance with the Instlr,rctions to BBA LIBOR Contributor banks," The BBA explained

that:

t On Feblraly L,2O14,ICE Benchmaric Adrninistration Lirnited was appointed as the uew

ac¡ninistr.ator.for.LIBOR, following authorization by tlre U,I(, Financial Conduct Autholity ("FCA"),

n Lr 2013, the BBA discontin¡ed publication of LIBOR for five cutreucies, namely the Canadian

Dollar, Australian Dollat', New Zealancl Dollar, Danish l(rone, and Swedish I(rona.

5
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[a]n iridividual BBA LIBOR Contlibutol Panel Banl< will contribute the t'ate at

which it could bonow funds, wele it to do so by asking fol and then accepting

inter'-bank offels in reasonabie malket size just priol to [1 1;00 a,m, London

timel,io

Evely business day sholtly befole l1:00 a,m, London tirne, the banks on the LIBOR
panels submitted theil rates to Thomson Reuters. A trimmed averaging pl'ocess excluded the top

änd bottom quartile of lates and the lemaining lates wele averaged fol each tenor', That averaged

rate became the official BBA daily LIBOR (the "LIBOR fixing") fol each tenor,

The BBA made public the ciaily LIBOR fixing for each culrency and tenor', as well as the

daily submissions of each panel bank, thlough Thomson Reutels and the othel data vendols

licensecl by the BBA, This infolmation was made available and relied upon by malket

participants and others thloughout the world, including in the United States,

By its definition, LIBOR requiles tlrat the subrnitting panel banks exelcise theil judgrnerit

to detennine the rates at which they may obtain unsecuLed funcìs in the London intelbanlc malket,

These definitions lequire that submissions relate to funding and do not pelrnit consiclelation of

factor.s unrelated to the costs of bonowing unsecut'ed funds, such as the benefit to a bank's

delivatives or money market trading positions'll

b, Euríbor nnd íts Fìxìng

Eur.ibor is used internationally in derivatives contlacts, including interest rate swaps and

futur.es contracts,l2 According to the Bank for Intet'national Settlements, over-the-counteL

i¡terest rate der,ivatives, such as swaps and FRAs, complised contt'acts wolth over' $187 trillion

in notional value at the end of 2012,

Dur.ing the r.elevant period, daily EuLibols were issued on behalf of the European Banking

Federation ("EBF")t' for fifteen tenors, ranging fi'om one weel< to twelve months, One, tht'ee

and six rnonths ate the most coru¡on tenors t'eferenced in Eulibor-indexed ttansactions.

r0 This definition of LIBOR has been used since 1998 to the plesent,

It ln Ju¡e 2008, the BBA clalified that panel baulcs could not contlibute a rate based on the plicing of

ariy der.ivative financial instrument, BBA guidelines issued in October'2009 fulther clarified that LIBOR

suúlnittel's "should not ask intelnedial'ies where they believe LIBOR lates will set on a given day and use

this as a basis for submissions, Tliis misses the point of the benclimark, and is a circular pt'ocess that

wonld lapidly lead to inaccut'ate rates,"

tz I¡ October. 201 1, the CME launched the Eulibor' þ-utures contt'act, which settles based on the three-

month Euribor,

r3 The EBF is an uryegulated non-profit association of the European banking sectol'based in Brtissels,

Belgium, Arnong other functions, the EBF ovelsees the pr.rblication of Euribor'.

6

Case 3:15-cr-00062-RNC   Document 4   Filed 04/23/15   Page 32 of 46



According to the EBF, Eulibol is definecl as the rate "at which Eut'o intel'banl< term

deposits ale offered by one plime banl< to another plime banlc" within the Economic and

Monetary Union of the European Union ("EMU") at 11:00 a,m, Central Eulopean Time ("CET")

daily,

Eur.ibol is determined using submissions from a panel of over 40 mostly European banl<s

conside¡ed to be the most active in the Euro zone with the highest volume of business in the

EMU, Accolding to the EBF instructions, panel banics "must quote the required euro rates to the

best of their knowiedge," based on theil observations of whet'e the Euro is trading in that matket,

Like the BBA panel banks, the Eul'ibol panel banks submit their rates electlonically to

Thomson Reuters, which manages the official Euribor process by collecting the submitted l'ates

from the contlibuting banks, calculating the rate, and then releasing it for publication just before

noon CET, Thomson Reutels computes that clay's published Eulibor by eliminating the highest

and lowest fifteen percent of subr¡issions collected, and avet'aging the lemaining submissions.

That average rate becomes the official daily EBF Euribor' (the "Eulibor' fixing"), On behalf of
EBF, Thornson Reutels then issues the Euribor' fixìng and the submissions of each panel bank to

its subscribels and othel data vendors, Through these licensing agleements with third parties,

such as Thomson Reuters, EBF disserninates the information tlu'oughout the wot'ld, including in

the United States,

*+****t

By their, clefinitions, LIBOR and Euribor requit'e that the submitting panel banks exercise

their judgment to detelmine the rates at which, depending on the benchmark, they or a pt'ime

barik may obtai¡ unsecured funds in the lespective London and Euro intelbanl< marl<ets. These

definitions requile that submissions lelate to funding and do not permit considelation of factols

uru.elated to the costs of borrowing unseculed funds, such as cash ol' derivatives tradi-ng

positions,

Z, Deutsche Bank's LIBOR and Euribor Submission Processes and the Embedded
Conflicts of Interest

o, Deutsche Bnnk's Submíssiott Prccesses in London cnd Frunl(urt

Deutsche Banlc is a membel of both the BBA and the EBF, and is one of the panel banks

that submits rates for the determination of LIBOR fol various currencies, including U,S, Dollar',

Yen, Ster.ling, and Swiss Franc, and Euribor','a Dnliug the relevant peliod, Deutsche Bank made

its LIBOR submissions for U,S, Dollar', Sterling, and Yen out of its London office and made

Swiss Franc LIBOR and Euribor submissions out of its Frankfurl offtce, Deutsche Bank's

LIBOR and Eulibol submission p1'ocesses and the tt'adet's and tlading desks involved in this

misconduct were pat't of the Global Finance and Foleign Exchange Group ("GFFX").

la Du¡ing the l'elevant peliod, Deutsche Banl< was also a membel of the I-IBOR parrels fol the Canadian

Dollat, Australiarr Dollar, Danish Klone, New Zealaud Dollat, aucl, beginning in June, 2006, the Swedish

I(rona,

7
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Deutsche Ba¡k's GFFX G¡onp consisted of two main lines of businesses, including

Global Finance and FX Folwal'ds, Included in this gl'oup were Pool Trading desks and Money

Mar.ket Derivatives ("MMD") desks, Deutsche Bank's LIBOR and Euribol subrnittels sat on the

Pool Tr,ading deslcs, wher.e they traded both cash and delivatives tlading ploducts, 'While the

submitters and other pool tladels regulally tt'ansactecl in intelbank cash deposits and loans to

meet the bank's funding needs each day in all cunencies, they also had their own delivatives

tr.ading boolcs that allowed them not only to hedge rish in theil cash trading but also to generate

prof,rts-for the desk in a ploplietary fashion. MMD traders, who also held proplietary books,

primarily tr.aded clerivatives hading ploducts with a focus on shofi term maturities from

õvernight to two years, Some of the delivatives proclucts tladed by both pool and MMD tladet's

includãd futur.es (including the CME Eulodollal futut'es contract), interest rate swaps, forward

rate agr.eements, overnight index swaps and tenor basis swaps, Tlie cash and derivatives

positiãns held by the Dãutsche Banl< pool tradet's and MMD tradels were often pliced off of

l,1gOn and Eur.ibor., Some of these positions settled ot'reset on International Monetaly MaÏket

("IMM") dates, which at'e quatlerly dates in March, June, September, and December"

The Pool Tr,ading and MMD desks wele organized by cumency and comprised of senior

tr.aders who over.saw the desks and often trained junior ttadet's, A regional manager in Deutsche

Ba¡k,s Frankfurl and New Yolk offrces oversaw the business lines fol that location, including

the Pool TLading and MMD desks, One senior managel'located in London had global

r.esponsibility for the pool Tr.ading and MMD desks ("Global Seniol Managel"), Pliol to 2006,

the pool TLaâing clesks and MMD desks operated mostly independent of each other, despite their

ovellapping trading responsibilities,

b, The LIBOR ottfl Eur|bot Subnúttet's' Conflícts of Inlerest Creuled b¡r

Deutsche Bsnk

In 2006, Deutsche Banlc rnelged the Pool Trading and MMD desks in its bank blanches

in an effort to increase the bank's tlading plofits through an alignment of the deslcs' related

trading positions. The mer.ger. of the business lines l'esulted in the MMD del'ivatives tladers in

Deutsóhe Bank's London offr"" sitting next to, ot' in close proximity to, Deutsche Bank cash

tladers. Some of those cash tladers were the bank's LIBOR submitters, From London, the

Global Senior.Managel instlucted all ttadels to have open cornmunication across offices and

instilled an expectation that the derivatives traders and submittels would communicate loutinely

about relevant mar.ket conditions and individual tlading positions,

This comminglirig of business lines caused a significant cultural shift within the bank

globally, where tradeì.s wele iricentivized to engage in improper communications with the banlc's

ffgOi and Euribor. submitters, As a result, tradet's loutinely communicated to submittels their

prefer.entiai r.equests for LIBOR and Euribol submissions which wet'e beneficial to individual

ãnd desk tLading positions. Because the bank's Euribol and Swiss Franc LIBOR submissions

were set in Frankfurt, the Global Seniol Manager encoulaged the Fran-i<ful Euribol and Swiss

Flanc LIBOR submitters to corl1act derivatives tradels in London to obtain the pleferled rates to

submit each day, In adclition to the pervasive oral requests, some of which were shouted across

the combined trading desks, submittel's and traders loutinely communicated on Bloomberg chat

ter.minals or irÍernal Deutsche Bank messaging systems to discuss plefelential LIBOR and
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Eur.ibor requests, The Global Senior Managet regulally sat amongst the tl'aclers on the trading

floor. and was aware of the many oral and written requests fot'plefet'ential LIBOR and Euribor'

submissions.

Deutsche Bank fui1her embedded this irihelent conflict of interest in its Pool Tlading

desks when it allowed its pool ü'aders to fiIl dual roles as both submittet's and derivatives tradem,

This enabled submittels to pliolitize theil individual and the desk's profits ovet'their'

responsibility to make honest assessment of the costs of borlowing unseculed funds when

submitting lates to the BBA and EBF, Not only did the submittels routinely take into account

the traders' preferential LIBOR and Euribor tequests, the submittels also regulally and

impr.operly ðonsideled theil own trading positions when detetmining theit LIBOR and Eulibor

submissions,

Deutsche Bank's merget'of Pool Tlading and MMD desks proved successful and resulted

in significa¡t pr.ofits for the bank, Fol example, tluoughout the relevant peliod, the Pool Trading

and MMD desks togethel utilized a basis spread tlading strategy (1, e., tlading the spread between

two or.more teno¡s) to genelate plofits, By mid-2008, duling the global frnancial ct'isis, rates

among the diffelent tenors of LIBOR and Euribol began to wiclen dramatically, The Global

Senioi Manager,and the London managor of the MMD deslcs ("London MMD Managet'"), one gj
the most senior, highly r.egarded and highly compensated delivatives tladet's at Deutsche Bank,"

r.ecognized the basis spread tlading stlategy as a way to genelate signifrcant plofits off of the

tur.bulent inter.est rate malkets, ancl Deutsche Bank's tradel's entered into massive derivatives

basis trading positions based upon the bet that the splead between tenors would continue to

widen,

The Global Senior.Manage¡ and other seniot'fi'aders often discussed this stlategy openly

during weekly meetings, ensuring that theil stlategy was well known and utilized across cun'ency

desks in both Pool Trading and MMD, As a result, Deutsche Bank's LIBOR and Eur'íbor

submitter.s \ilere aware of this stlategy, parlicular'ly duting the financial ct'isis, and were

cognizant of the particulal LIBOR and Eulibor submissions desired by traders to benefit those

pnritionr based on this strategy. As such, the submittels t'outinely built this bias into l)eutsche
-Bank's 

LIBOR and Euribor submissions, even in the absence of oral ol written communications

fi.om ttaders, Deutsche Bank's Pool Tlacling and MMD desks posted tremendous prof,tts during

2008 and 2009, atthe height of the financiafcrisis, due in part io this trading strategy,l6

By failing to separate responsibilities for rnal<ing LIBOR and Euribol submissions from

itS t¡ading functions, Deutsche Banlc allowed an envirorunent to exist that yielded signifrcant

opportunities fol tladels and submittet's to attempt to manipulate LIBOR and Euribor

suùmissions to the benef,rt of the bank's trading positions, and the tladers and submittels toolc full

l' Th" London MMD Managel relocated to Deutsclte Banlç's Singapole office in March 2010, where he

becatne the Global Manager of MMD'

r6 1¡r2007,Deutsche Bank's MMD desks repoltecl tLading l'everlue and commissions of €399 million
(1.29% of total ba¡l< revenue); in 2008, e|942 billion (14.21% of total revenue); andin2Q09,€992

rnillion (3 55% of total t'evenrie),
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advantage of those opportunities, As a result, the submittels routinely skewed Deutsche Bank's

LIBORãnd Eur.ibor submissions to benefît the bank's trading positions by attempting to

manipulate the fixings of LIBOR and Eut'ibor, At times, theil attempts to manipulate U'S,

Dollar', Yen, Stelling, and Swiss Franc LIBOR and Euribor were successfi;l,

3, Deutschc Bank's Inadequate Internal Controls and Failure to Appreciate the

Scope of Misconduct

Dur.ing the r.elevant peliod, Deutsche Bank allowed the conflicts of intelest to flourish by

failing to put in place sufficient benchmal'k-specific systems or contlols sttt't'ounding lisk and

rorr1¡iunô" to adequately supervise its derivatives traders and submittels, Deutsche Banh did

¡ot have any policiis, internal controls, ol pt'ocedut'es fol detelmining, monitoring, or

supervising-its LIBOn and Euribol submissions to ensule that Deutsche Bank's submissions

r.eflected an honest assessment of the costs of bolrowing unsecured flrnds in the relevant

inter.bank markets, Deutsche Bank's failure to plovide internal tlaining or standards addressing

benchmark ilterest rate submissions, allowance of inappropriate communications amongst

traders and submitter.s, and related conflicts of intelest ampliflred the potential fol misconduct and

permitted it to continue for over six yeat's, Futther, Deutsche Bank did not begin to put into

plu.r uny specifrc policies, procedules, ol contt'ols at'ound its benchmalk submission processes

until miá-z-o 1 l, anà the Bank did not formalize a policy addlessing conflicts of interests between

tradels and submittels for another two yeals, in Febluary 20i 3.

in investigating the conduct at issue here, Deutsche Bank failed to appreciate until mid-

201 1 the extent to which it had systemic and pewasive manipulative conduct by its tradels and

managets acl.oss multiple lines of businesses in offîces at'ound the wolld' As a result, this

conduct continued weil aftrr the Division of Enfot'cement began its investigation of Deutsche

Bank's U,S, Dollal LIBOR submissions in early 2010.

4, Deutsche Bank,s False Reporting, Attempted Manipulation, and Manipulation

of U.S. Dollar LIBOR

Dur.ing the relevant period, Deutsche Bank, through its submitters and tradels, routinely

made false U,S, Dollar LIBOR submissions in furtherance of its attempts to manipulate U,S'

Dollar LIBOR, At times, they wele successful in their attempts to manipulate, This misconduct

originated primar.ily out of Deutsche Bank's London offices, and at times, its New YoIk and

Franl<furt offices.

The U.S, Dollar Pool Trading desk in London was responsible fol submitting Deutsche

Bank's U.S, Dollar LIBOR submissions, The head of the U,S. Dollal pool trading desk

("London Pool Trading Manager") oversaw vadous juniol tladers who wolked daily with him

and made the bank's U.S. Dollal LiBOR submissions undel his direction, Similar to the London

MMD Manager, the Lo¡don Pool Tlading Managel was a well-respected Deutsche Bank trader

ancl highly cõmpensated. Fl'om 2004 throughout the rest of the relevant period, a trader

supervised by the London Pool Trading Manager'("U,S, Dollar LIBOR Strbmitter'") became the

ptltnuty U,S, Dollar LIBOR submitter and, at times, the London Pool Tlading Managet'acted as

a back-up submitter'.
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During the r.elevant peliod, Deutsche Bank pool and MMD traders in London loutinely

made r.equests to the U.S, Dollal LIBOR Submittel ol the Lonclon Pool Tlading Manager for

submissions that wo¡ld benefit theil derivatives tlading positions, As clescribed above, as a

lesult of the pool and MMD tradem working side-by-side, this conduct was pelvasive with

requests for beneficial U,S. Dollar LIBOR submissions being either shouted across the tlading

floor., passed fiom one tlader to another trader sitting next to the submitteL, or sent to submitters

througli electronic communications, On occasion, pool and MMD tladers and managers in

Deutùhe Bank's New Yolk office and at least one pool tradel in Flankfuil also aslced for LIBOR

submissions that benefited their positions, The U,S, Dollal LiBOR Subrnitter, at times,

contactecl the pool and MMD tradels in the various offices to solicit whether they had t'equests

for.beneficiat LtgOR submissions, The submitter t'esolved any conflicts between the lequests by

fir.st checking with the London Pool Tlading Manager. The U,S, Dollar LIBOR Submitter'

r.outinely accãmrnodated the traclers' requests in making Deutsche Banl<'s U,S. Dollal LIBOR

submissions.

The U,S, Dolla¡ LIBOR Submittel also acted as a tradet'but only occasionally tLaded his

own book. Rather, he wolked closely with the Lonclon Pool Trading Manager and othel pool

and MMD traders, and was expectecl to undet'stand and be awal'e of theil'delivatives trading

positions. Over the lelevant period, the submitteL became so familiar with the trading positions

ãlthr U.S, Dollal.traders that he either informed the fl'aders of his intent to submit a skewed

LIBOR without waiting for a request or he simply submitted U,S. Dollar LIBOR submissions in

a manner he believed would benefît their del'ivatives tlading positions,

As clescribed above, Deutsche Banlc U,S, Dollal pool and MMD iladers, paLticulally the

London Pool Trading Managel, utilized the basis splead trading strategy plomoted by the Global

Senior Manager and the London MMD Manager, The U,S, Dollar LIBOR Subrnittel was cleat'ly

awal.e of thislrading strategy and, tlu'oughout the relevant period, but plimalily during the global

frnancial c¡isis of 2008 tlu'ough 2009, often skewed, without w'itten ot'ot'al requests from

tr.aders, Deutsche Bank's U,S, DollaL LIBOR submissions in order to benefit the bank's trading

positions based on this stlategy, Deutsche Bank's U,S, Dollal Pool and MMD tlading desks

weLe sorne of the most highly profitable tlading desks during this time.

Below are examples of the lecluests that numerous tladers communicated to the U.S.

Dollar Submitter and the London Pool Trading Managet':17

March 2212005: (emphasis added)
U.S. Dollar OR Submitter if you need something in particular in the

Iibors i.e. you have an interest in a high or a
low fix let me know and there's a high chance

i'lt be able to go in a different level. just give

't Th" communications quoted in this Order contain shofthand tlacler language and many typoglaphical

e¡.ol.s, The shorthand and errors are explained in blacltets within the quotations only when deemed

¡ecessal,y to assist with understanding the discussion, Unless otherwise notecl the commtlnications ale by

email, chat, ot'other electronic messaging system,
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New Yolk U.S, Dollal Trader 1

U,S, Dollal LIBOR Submitter:

April 1,2005: (emphasis adcled)

London U,S. Dollal Tlader 1:

September 21, 2005t (emphasis added)
London MMD Manager:

U.S, Dollat LIBOR Submitter:

London MMD Manaqer

U,S, Dollar LIBOR Submitter'

November' 28, 2005: (emphasis added)
London Pool Tradins Managel':

New Yollç Regional Manaqer':

London Pool Tradine Manager:

New Yollc Regional Manaeer:

December 29, 20062 (emphasis added)
London U,S. Dollal Trader'2:

me a shout the day before or send an email
from your blackberry first thing.
Thanks - our CP guys have been looking fol it a
bit higheL - not a big deal
if anything the cash has actually cheapened up

since yesterday too albeit by 1/2 tick - true
could get some sub 75 days tlur.r the next week

COULD WD PLS HAYE A LOW 6MTII
FIX TODAY OLD BEAN?

Subject: "$ LIBORS: 83, 89, 96 and 11

LOWER MATE LOWER !!
will see what i can do but it'Il be tough as the
cash is pretty well bid

[Another U.S. Dollal Panel Bank] IS DOIN
IT ON PURPOSE BECAUSE THDY HAVE
THE DXACT OPPOSITE POSITION . ON

WHICH THEY LOST 25MIO SO FAR. LETS
TAI(E THEM ONII
ok, letrs see if we can hurt them a little bit
more then

[an]ything either way from you guys? \ye at'e

still short basis in L mth so lowere the better
HAHAHAH, NEVER FAILS. WE WOULD
PREFER IT HIGHER,,, WE HAVE ABOUT
15BB tMO RECETVES,,,THANI$, JUST
ASIflNG IS VERY MUCH
APPRT,CIATED...,
will do like [U,S, Dollar LIBOR Submitter]then
- ask, and do the opposite,,. let us know the days
you lec, filst frx tom will set the tone
JUST TOMOORROW ON THE REC, THEN
PAYING I5BB 12112 TFiRU

Hello [U,S, Dollal LIBOR Submitter] Come on
32 on7, Mth Cu my fld
ok will try to give you a belated christmas
present.,.! have a good new year

U.S, Dollar LIBOR Submitter:

t2
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March 28,20072
FrankfurtNon-Eulo Desk Manager: ,,,i WOULD NEED A HIGH 3MTS LIBOR

TODAY, BUT I THINK YOU DO TOO!!

London Pool Tradine Managel: 35?

Flank@: YEPPSE

August 13,2008: (r,esponse to U.S. Dollal LIBOR Submitter's email) (emphasis added)

Ñew Yolk U,S, Dollar Senior Trader: Subject: $ lsbors unch
Oh bullshit...,.strap on a pair and jaclt up

the 3M. Hah¡hahaha

In addition to the LIBOR requests traders made to benefit specifrc tlading positions,

traders also lequested gladual movements in LIBOR in older to set the trend in upcoming

LIBOR fixings to benefit longel telm dedvatives trading positions, which the U,S, Dollar

LIBOR s¡bmitter.r.ogtinely aócommodated, Similariy, the U,S, Dollal LIBOR submittel was

also awale of no¡th-end áerivatives tlading positions held by the traders and often submitted

I)eutsche Banlc U,S. Dollar contl'ibutions skewed to benefit those positions, The submitter

routinely accommodated these lequests by shewing Deutsche Banl<'s daily U,S. Dollal LIBOR

contributions at month-encl, over á period of days, weeks, or even months, Below ale examples

of such lequests:

November 28, 2006: (email to London Pool Tlading Manager') (emphasis added)

New Yor.k U,S, Doilar Senior Tradel: Altho I don't have a huge I mL fix tomw,I
am paying 1 mL on about 40bn throughout
December so I was hoping for a Iow 1 mL fix
tomw to set the tone

Febluary 28, 2007 z (emphasis added)

New York U.S. Dollar Trader 2:

U,S, Dollar LIBOR Submitter':

New Yoric U,S, Doilal Trader'2:

August L2r20072 (emphasis added)

New York Regional Manageï:

LIBOR HIGHER TOMORROW?
shouldn't be

COME ON, WE ALWAYS NEED HIGHER
LIBORS !!! HAHA
haha, i'll do my best fhcer
NO WORRIES. ruST CURIOUS, U SURVE,

TI]E DEBACLE OF TH PAST 24 HRS>

If possible, we need in NY lmo libor as low as

possible next few days.,.,tons of pays coming
up overall.,,,thanks!
\ilill do our best [New Yoll< Regional

Manager'], Irll coordinate the overnight in the
same way as \rye did last weeh with [New Yollc
U,S, Dollar Trader' 1] tomonow

U,S, Dollal LIBOR Submitter'
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December 13, 2001 : (emPhasis added)

Frankfufi Ñon-Euro Deslç Manager': [London Pool Trading ManageL]' I NEED
YOUR HDLP...IF IT SIIITS YOU CAN WE
PUT IN A HIGH LIBOR TILL NEXT
TUESDAY IN THE 3 MTS?

London Pool Trading Manager: olt

On a handflrl of occasions, either the London Pool Trading Managet' ol the U,S' Dollar

LIBOR submitter contacted inteldealel brolcers in atternpts to influence the ovelall L.LBOR hxing

by r.equesting the br.oker.s to make preferential LIBOR piedictions in specific tenors.ls Below are

examples of these communications:

March 14,20072
London Pool Trading Manager:

U.S, Dollar LiBOR Submitter'

February 21,2008t
Bloker 2:

London Pool Trading Managet':

Broker 2:

London Pool Tlading Manaser:
Brolcer 2:

These marlcets falling in is not good for us

personally. We need good old fashioned boom

time [. , .]
[. , .][BLolcer 1] reckon 3s libor only 34,75 fyg

even with edh where it is ttow which is bllx
Get it lowet, we need it, t, . ,]
just spoke to him, now thinking34,5, i think
should be lowel still will lceep pressing will do

which dilection do you want tom 1 mth libor
pushed ?

lowet'and 3mth higher
imafi'aid thats not going to happen big boy

its worked so far
i3-08 fol them torn

Accor.dingly, tl1'oughout the relevant peliod, Deutsche Bank routinely rnade false t'eports

r.egarding U,S. póilar LIBOR and atternptecl to manipulate U.S, Dollar LIBOR in ot'del to

benefit Deutsche Banlc's trading positions, As such, Deutsche Banl<'s U'S, Dollar LIBOR

submissions \ilere not made in acòoldance with the BBA definitions and critelia for LIBOR

submissions, At times, they were successful in their attempted manipulations,

l8 Brckers act as intel,mediar.ies between rnajol dealers in the cash and clelivatives markets to facilitate

execution of interdealer tr,acles, Br.okels assist banlcs in obtaining funding by facilitating the negotiation

of cleposits and loans, and in hedging those transactions with derivatives tt'ades often lefet'encecl to

LIBOR.
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Over the leievant period, Deutsche Bank's Euribol submittels routinely slcewed Eulibor'

submissiors based ,rpon *qu"rts fi.om Deutsche Bank delivatives tradels for mtes set to beneht

delivatives trading positions that wer.e linlced to Eulibor, The Flanl<furt-based submitters also

routinely took thJh own trading positions into account in making the bank's Eulibor'

submissions. tn adclition, u".rtîårr. Bank delivatives tladers cooldinated on sevet'al occasions

wïth der.ivatives traders at other.Euribor panel banks to ensut'e Eulibol contlibutions beneflted

their.respective tLading fåritionr, Deutsähe Bank routinely made false Euribor contributions in

fliitherance of its attffits to manipulate Euribor, At tirnes, Deutsche Bank was successfi¡l in its

attempts to maniPulate Euribol.

The London MMD Manager.made the majolity of the tt'adem' r'equests, although several

traders on rnultiple desks also maãe such requests, The London MMD Manager, Deutsche

Bank,s highly regarded senior tlader', routinåly used several means in his attempts to manipulate

the Euribo' fixing, ni, ãpprourh to manipulaiing Euribor encompassed the foìlowingr (1) he

r.egular.ly r.equested Oeutsóhe Bank's Frankfurt-bãsed submitters to make Eulibor submissions

beneficial to his derñatives trading positions; (2) he at times wo'lced with the Euribor submitte's

to make bids or. offers in the market at lates intended to influence malket perception of plevailing

cash lates (known as "pushing cash"), and, theleby, potentially influence other banks' Eulibot'

submissions; (3) he coõrdinateJ orr r.u.ruíoccasiótts with derivatives traders at other Euribor'

panel banks by entering into a ecluest or submissions to

their respective submiftefs; an with t panel banlcs to

convince inter.dealer brokers to theil c the purpose of

potentially influencing other banlcs' Ettt'ibor submissions,

,, Detúsclte Btutk's InternqlAttentpts lo Mnttipulate Etu'ibor in otder to

Benelit Trñing Posítiotts

Deutsche Bank assignecl r.esponsibility fol making its Eur'ïbor submissions to tt'adels and

managers on the Euro Pooli'ading desk in Frankfurt, Among othe. d'ties, these pool t'aders

had lesponsibility io*aising :ash in Eu'o, Swiss Franc and other currencies, and traded Euro-

based inter.est rut. ,wup, anã foÏward tate agreements generally tied to various tenot's of

Euribor.le

The Eurjbor subrnittels, some of whom were desk managers, contin¡ed the systemic

pr.actice of focusing on th"i, delivatives tlading positions as a basis fol theil Euribor

submissions, The õubmitters also maintained ãaily contact with MMD Euro tladers in London'

including the London MMD Manager, to ensule túey were aware of the bank's various trading

positions tied to Eul.ibor. Multiple-traders regular'ly and openly made requests to the submitters

5. Deutsche Bank,s False Reporting, Attempted Manipulation, and Manipulation

of Euribor

le At least one of tlie tt'aders on the Frankfurt Non-Euro Pool Tlading Desk also had lesPonsibilitY foL

rnaking the bank's Euribor submissious, either as a baol<-up submitter or, as of mid-2010, as Part of the

team of Eut'ibor' submitters. The Deutsche Bank Swiss Flanc submitter(s ) involved in the Euribor

here also routinely attempted to manipulate Swiss Franc
conduct desclibed
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for.Euribor. submissions benefïcial to their delivatives tÏading positions' 'When requests wet'e not

forthcoming tom t-onáon, the Eur.ibor submitters actively solicited them fiom the traders as part

of their. effor.t to coor.dinate the offices' trading books and the bank's Eulibor submissions in a

mannel'to maximize theil plofrts.

The Eur.ibor submitter.s fegulally accommodated these t'equests unless at times the

requests conflict
MMD Manager'
Euribol submiss

When the basis tlading stlategy implemented b

MMD Managel began to genelate signifrcant prt

under,stood the Euribor, submission(s) needed each day to benefit the spread positions and made

theil Euribor submissions accordingly, even absent a specifîc lequest fi'orn tt'adet's'

The foilowing ate some exalllples of the many impl'opef comrnunications between the

Eulibol submitters and the MMD Eut'o tt'aclers:

July 10,2005: (emPhasis addecl)

London MMD Manager:

London MMD Manager

Eulibor Srùmitter'

London MMD Manasel':

July 6,2006: (ernPhasis added)

Flankfuit Eulo Desk Managel:

HI FRDS ANY CHANCE TO PUSH UP

YOUR CONTRIBUTION TO THE 3MTH
EURIBOR FIX?
HI fEuribor Submitted HERE USUALLY IT
WóUIU BE 11 ON OUR SIDE SO DO U

REALLY NEED A 12 FOR TODAY AS DB

CONTRIBUTION?
EONIA AT 2.068 AND O/I{ TRADiNG 2.08

IT WUD MAI(E SENSE TO HAVE A
HIGHER 3MTH FIX. WE SHORT A LOT

OF JUNES ABOUT 4O()OO LOTS
OI( WE WILL CONTRIBUTE A 12 FOR

TODAY AND MONDAY HAVE A NICE

WEEI(END
THX A LOT [, , ,]

HIHI [London MMD Manager],I JUST

WANT TO CHECK WHETHER WE HAVE
CONFLICTING INTERESTS IN THE
JUNE 06 SETTLEMENT. IT DOESN'T
MAKE SENSE IF \ryE TRY TO PUSH ONE

WAY AND U WLD LII(E TO HAVE IT
THE OTHER WAY AROUND' WE WLD
PRTFER A LOW 3ME FIXING TO PUSH

JUNEO6 HIGH. IS THIS UR
PREF'ERENCE AS WDLL?
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London MMD Manager

Flankfuil Euro Desk Managel:

March 23,20072 (emPhasis added)

Frankfufi Euro Desk Manager:

THX VM FOR CHECIflNG [Frankftirt Eut'o

Deslc Manager'l - YES WE WOULD PREFER

A LOW FIXING AS WELL
THX [London MMD Manager'], THAT WILL
MAI(E US MORE POWERF'UL IN
PUSHING THE FIX WE \ryANT IT.

FIXINGS AS USUAL MONSIEUR? LOW

lM IrIGH 6M (SAME HERE)
yes please - thank you very much [Flankfurl
Eulo Desk Manager']

DE RIEN

t. , ,l,,, IS IT TOO LATDR TO ASK FOR

SOME NICE LIBOR FIXINGS?
ILL PUT LOW lM OI( FOR U

WE ACTUALLY NEED HJIGHEE

EVERYTHING
I AM SORRY I SHOUI,D KNOW UR SIDE

SO YOU HAVE ALREADY SENT THNM?

THEY REE WE CAN CHANGE IT

LINTIL1 1:59 ,,, SO WE HAVE ENOUGH

TiME .. TELL ME EXACTLY \MHICH

RATE U WANT TO HAVE IN
WE NDED HIGH 6M PLS, AS MUCH AS

YOU CAN PUSH IT
WELL BEEE WILL PUT 39 FOR U IN AND

WHAT IS ABOUT 1 AND 3 M
WE HAVE SMALL lM - NEED HIGH AS

WELL ,, AND NOTHING IN 3M SO ..

THANi( YOU VERY MUCH!
lM V/ILL PUT 4.11 OI( FORU
GREAT THANK EEEEEEEEE MOM SORRY

SORRY ruST HIGH 6M... THE ONE

MONTH WE ACTUALLY NEED LOW,

EVEN THOUGH WE HAVB IT THE OTHER

WAY ROT]ND TODAY WE NEED IT LOW

TO PREPARE FOR THE FIXINGS IN AUG''

SO LOW 1M 3M DONT HAVE 6M HIGH

SO'fHAT WAS ALSO MY IDEA.. LOW iM
FOR U TALi(ED TO fl-ondon MMD Managerl

YESTERDAY,. WAS VERY SURPzuCE

WHEN YOU TOLD ME HIOGI].. THAT IS

Frankfuil Regional Manager
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London MMD Euro Tlacier

July 03,2008: (emPhasis added)

London MMD Managel':

September 26, 2008: (emphasis added)

London MMD Euro Tracler 2:

FINE I CHEANGB IT TO 09 AS BEFORE ''
ALL OK NOW
GREAT TFIXS, SORRY FOR

MISSUNDERSTANDING, WAS JUST

LOOIqNG ONLY AT TODAY'S FIXINGS''
THXS BIBiBI FN

[Frankfurt Regional Manager],I have a big

favor to ashyou.
Tell me,

And, uh ,,, a big, big' big favor,
ok,
Bon, In March ,,,

Yes,
We have, eh, we have 20 yards of a 6 month

fixing, l, . ,l A lot in in March, So, basically'

um, basically, uh, we need high 6 month'

You need high 6 month, ok,

High 6 month, Yes,

Sure, we will get high 6 month, no worries'

Higli.
We will get high 6 month.

Es , , . especially on the IMM, on the 19th I
have 7 yards.

Just to let you know, it would suit me very

much to have a high LIBOR tomorrow, So, I

don't know if you can put it high or not or

whatever it is, just to let you know, tomonow it
suits me to have high 3s.

Umm. Yeh, thele's one thing. We have to be

careful. Usually we quote below Euribor'
ancl right no\ry \rye usually quote around 4 to 5

basis points below the expected Euribor just

to show that we are on the better qualify of

the range of the contributors.
I see ,,,

So that's why, r'ight now, if you look at out'

quote compared to the other contlibutot's , . .

iLnow,I've been noticing that, thatrs why I
thought I would ask you if there is there any

chance if you can put it up for me. I would

leally appleciate that. Just fol tomonow, ok?

London MMD Eulo Trader 2:

18
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Eulibor Subrnitter' My coworker here says something, maybe 21

is possible.

we will know until torn nrorning how the othels

apply trichets comtnents in the market i think
for fixings it sounds like a non event

apalt fiom lowet' lmth and higher 6m

p\eaaaaaaaaaaaaase

Its lik.ty that many contr ibutors keep their rates

unchanged :-) except for' 1m and 6m ofcause

:-)

The Eur.ibor submitter.s and the London MMD Managel also coordinated, at times, to
,,push cash,, i1 the mar.ket, or., in other wolds, rnake bids or offels in the rnaÎket at rates othet'

than what they normatty wouid have bid ol offered. By this plactice, the traders intended to

signat to othei malket participants (includi g other Eulibor panel bank submittels) that market

pti."r were moving in a certáin direction, MMD traders and submittels

wanted the other banks' Euribot submitter lçet moves into theil Eulibot'

submissions, thereby incleasing Deutsche Banlc the Euribor fixing would move iu

the direction they desired,

The following are examples of the tradels and the submitters openly discussing their'

strategy of pushing cash in the marlcet:

April 13,20072 (to Yen Desk Manager) (emphasis added)
^ 

Franl<furt Er-u'ò Desk Manaeer: HI MATE, JUST FoR UR GUIDE' wE
TRY TO BID UP IN THE 3M TO PUSH

THE FIX A BIT.

June 21,2007: (to London MMD Manager) lernplrgs-is a${)
Frantfur.t Euio Desk Manager: WE CONTINUE To oFFER lM CASH IN

THE MARKTE TO KEEP lME FIX ON

THE LOW SIDE.

b. Deutsche Bnnk,s Coordìnatìott tvi.tlt Other Eurìbor Parcl Banks l.o

MmiPulúe Euri'bor

From at least 2005 thr.ough at least 2008, the London MMD Managel coordinated with

derivatives traders at other Eurib--oL panel banks on sevelal occasions in attempts to manipulate

the Eur.ibor.fixing. In addition to his regular intelnal t'equests to Deutsche Bank Eulibor'

submitters, the Lãndon MMD Manager also utilized his friendships and past wolking

relationshþs with der.ivatives traders at other Euribol panel banks to further his attempts to

manip'late Eur.ibor.. While he spoke daily to tladers at sevelal banks and other financial

June 4,2009:
Euribol Submitter:
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institutions, he primar.ïry coordinated with der.ivatives í'aders atBa'crays20("Bæ'clays senior'

EuLo Swaps Tråder") and at Euribo' Bank A ("Eut'ibor Bank A Swaps'I't'adet'-"',¡'

The London MMD Manager.and these derivatives tradet's regularly exchanged

inforrnation about their derivatives tr.ading positions and the Eulibol fixing that they plefened to

benefit those positi."r, itt.V agreed, at times, to transmit lecluests to theil respective Eulibor

submitters for.Eur.ibol submlssions that would benefit theil tlading positions' They also

discussed r.eaching out to othef Eulibol panel banks to influence those banks' Eut'ibor

submissions in furtherance of their attempts to manipulate the Eu'ibol fixings' 'When the

London MMD MJ;;.;as not availabie, he insttucted the London MMD Eut'o Trader to

communicate his posltions and EuÏibol práf"r.n.., to at least the Barclays Seniol Euro Tl'acler or

his junior traders, and to the Deutsche Banl< Euribor submitters,

The following are examples of the communìcations between the London MMD Manager

and the derivatives tladels with whorn he coordinated:

20 On Jtme 27,}Ol},the Commission issued an Order Institr.rtin g Proceedings Putsuant to Sections 6(c)

and 6(d) of the CommoditY Exchange Act, As Arnended, Making Findings and Imposing Rernedial

Sanctions against BarclaYs, finding, among other' things, that the London MMD Managet', iclentifiecl in

the Balclays Ordel as Trader at Banl< A, and a BalclaYs Seniol'Eulo SwaPs Tlader coordinated in their

attempts to rnanipulate Eulibol, See In re BatclaYs PLC, Børcl.a¡ts Banlc PLC ønd Børclqts CoPital hc,,

CFTC l)ocl<etNo, 12-25 (June 2'7,2012), pp, 16-17; ctvailable at

June 9,2005: (emPhasis added)

Bank A Euro Swaps Trader':

London MMD Managei-l

September 29, 20052 (emphasis added)

London MMD Manaser:

Balclays Senior Eulo Swaps Trader':

London MMD Manaeer:

That same dayl
London MMD Manager:

Amigo checl<ed with mY F'FT their 3m

euribor contribution which seems v low at

2.11 tike ur FFT have u checked with yuoyr

guys???
iiit t"lt them from tomorrow to put a higher

fix..its waY too low

DONIT FORGET TO SDT A HIGH F'IX

TODAYI
I told them they're going to set it at 2'13

goodness! that's going to hutl

DONT FORGET THIS HIGH 3M FIX FOR

THE F'RÄ/EONIA SPREADS

¡062712,pdî.

2t In rnid-2006, Euribor Bank A Swaps Tradel moved to another Eulibor panel bank'. The Lonclon

MMD Manager co,,ti*1"¿ to have regila. discussions with him legatding theil Íespective trading

poritlo"r, anã, at tirori *uJ" l."qu"ri, of each other fol' preferential Eu.ibor submissio's'
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